Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

3-7-2017

Adamcik v. State Appellant's Brief Dckt. 44358

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Introduction

Torey Adamcik was sixteen years old when he was arrested for the first-degree murder of Cassie Stoddard and for conspiring to commit that murder with seventeen-year-old Brian Draper. He was found guilty after a trial and sentenced to a life sentence without possibility of parole on the murder charge.

Torey was represented at trial and sentencing by attorneys Bron Rammel, Aaron

Thompson and Greg May. The State was represented by Bannock County Prosecuting Attorney

Mark Hiedeman and Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Vic Pearson.

The conviction and sentence were affirmed on appeal, although two Justices dissented finding that there was insufficient evidence to show that Torey committed the murder as charged. The Court also rejected the argument that the fixed life sentence for a juvenile violated the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment found in Article 1, § 6 of the Idaho Constitution. *State v. Adamcik*, 154 Idaho 445, 272 P.3d 417 (2012). Torey's petition for rehearing was denied on February 8, 2012. Four months later, the United States Supreme Court issued *Miller v. Alabama*, — U.S. —, 132 S. Ct. 2455 (2012).

B. Post-Conviction Proceedings

Torey filed a timely post-conviction. R 12. He raised claims of ineffective assistance of counsel because counsel failed to: 1) get important expert testimony before the jury; 2) move to suppress evidence, 3) move to exclude evidence of Torey's invocation of the right to counsel; and 4) communicate a favorable plea offer to him. Torey also alleged that the fixed life sentence

was cruel and unusual punishment in violation of the Eighth Amendment and Article 1, § 6 of the Idaho Constitution under *Miller v. Alabama*, *supra*. R 25-66.

The state filed an Answer. R 152. Both parties moved for summary disposition, at least in part. R 205, 257.

The court denied Torey's motion for partial summary disposition. It granted in part and denied in part the state's motion. R 365-409. In a separate memorandum decision, the court summarily dismissed Torey's Eighth Amendment claim. R 410-425. Torey filed a Motion for Reconsideration addressing some of the dismissed claims. R 436. That motion was denied. R 461.

C. Post-Conviction Evidentiary Hearing

The court held an evidentiary hearing. Afterwards, the court issued its Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Memorandum Decision and Order on Post-Conviction denying all of the remaining claims. R 640.

D. Motion to Reconsider Eighth Amendment Claim

After the evidentiary hearing but before the court's decision, Torey filed a Second Motion for Reconsideration addressing the Eigth Amendment Claim. In the motion, Torey noted that "[y]esterday, the United States Supreme Court held [in *Montgomery v. Louisiana*, — U.S. ____, ____ S.Ct. ____ (2016)] that '*Miller* [v. *Alabama*, — U.S. —, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012),] announced a substantive rule that is retroactive to cases on collateral review.'" R 613. "Thus, it is now clear that *Miller* applies to Mr. Adamcik's case. In addition, the *Montgomery* Court also made it clear that *Miller* applies to all juvenile fixed life sentences, whether mandatory or discretionary." R 613-14.

After a hearing, the court denied the Second Motion to Reconsider finding that the trial court judge's findings and conclusions at the sentencing complied with the Eighth Amendment under both *Miller* and *Montgomery*. R 700.

A Judgment of Dismissal was filed. R 704. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed. R 706. A Judgment was then filed. R 718. A timely Amended Notice of Appeal was filed. R 718.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Did the district court err in denying the ineffective assistance of counsel claim that the defense team's performance was deficient because it failed to move to suppress the evidence found on a computer seized without the authority of a warrant?
- B. Did the district court err in finding Torey was not prejudiced by the deficient performance of the defense team which failed to get important expert testimony before the jury?
- C. Did the district court err in finding that Torey was not prejudiced by the cumulative effect of the defense team's deficient performance?
 - D. Did the district court err in summarily dismissing the Eighth Amendment claim?

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The District Court Erred in Denying the Ineffective Assistance of Counsel Claim That the Defense Team's Performance Was Deficient Because it Failed to Move to Suppress Evidence Found on a Computer Seized Without the Authority of a Warrant.

1. Facts pertinent to issue.

On September 27, 2006, a Search Warrant was issued for Sean and Shannon Adamcik's home at 1598 Pointview Dr., Pocatello, Idaho. Petitioner's Exhibit B. Torey lived there with his parents, his older sister and his younger brother. The Search Warrant was executed and several items were seized, including a Computer Tower found in the basement TV room of the Adamcik

home. Petitioner's Exhibit D. However, the warrant does not authorize the seizure of computers. Petitioner's Exhibit B.

Two search warrants were issued on October 4, 2006, one authorizing the police to search the contents of the Tower Computer. R 683. The police searched the content of the computer and found explicit images.

Defense counsel filed a Request for Discovery prior to trial and were aware of the search warrants. According to Attorney Thompson, defense counsel did not file a motion to suppress the evidence seized during the execution of the September 27 search warrant nor did they move to suppress the evidence found during the October 4 search warrant because they did not identify a legal basis to do so. Had a legal basis been identified, the defense team would have filed a motion to suppress. Post-Conviction Transcripts ("PCT") pg. 106, ln. 15 - pg. 107, ln. 3.

During the trial, the state disclosed that it had recovered evidence from the computer. The prosecuting attorney informed defense counsel that "kiddie porn" photographs had been discovered and told defense counsel that he would introduce them at trial if the defense put on its planned character witnesses. PCT pg. 96, ln. 4 - pg. 97, ln. 1.

The defense team had planned to call several character witnesses during the trial. PCT pg. 94, ln. 22 - pg. 96, ln. 14. Part of the defense strategy was "to present witnesses that could speak to the good things about Torey." Mr. Thompson explained, "I think there was an overwhelming amount evidence that was all negative in nature and we wanted to take some steps to counteract that. We wanted to present and show that he definitely had good qualities." PCT pg. 94, ln. 7-12.

After the prosecutor revealed the existence of the explicit images, the defense team did

not move to suppress the evidence. Instead, defense counsel decided to forego the presentation of the character witnesses and decided to not call Torey as a witness. During the evidentiary hearing, Mr. Thompson suggested that the decision to forego character evidence was because the defense had "changed gears a little bit[.]" PCT pg. 112, ln. 11-13. However, at his deposition, he stated that the revelation of the explicit photographs "changed, I believe, the way that we decided that we were going to present the finality of the case." PCT pg. 142, ln. 18-22. Mr. Thompson continued, "We were extremely fearful that those facts could come in be presented to the jury and potentially torpedo the entire defense." PCT pg. 143, ln. 24 - pg. 144, ln. 3.

Likewise, Mr. Rammell testified in his deposition that once the defense team found out about the explicit images they made a decision to not put on certain character evidence out of a concern for opening the door to those images. PCT pg. 377, ln. 8-18. Shannon and Sean Adamcik testified that the decision to forego character evidence was made at a meeting at the law firm's office after the computer images were disclosed by the state. PCT pg. 155, ln. 15-25; pg. 194, ln. 15-21.

Barbara Adamcik was also at the meeting. She recalled:

The attorneys were strongly supporting the idea of not bringing forth the character witnesses so to keep the pornography stuff out of the trial. And Sean and Shannon were really adamant that we needed to convince the jury and the judge that Torey was somehow a different person than Brian Draper.

PCT pg. 224, ln. 6-12.

Torey testified he was told about the explicit images and the decision to forego character evidence during a jail meeting with the defense team.

Q. Did they talk to you about making any trial decisions as a basis of these nude images being turned over to them?

A. They informed me that they weren't going to put on any character evidence. When I inquired about it, in so many words I got the answer that it was because of the images.

PCT pg. 416, ln. 10-16. The defense team also decided to not have Torey testify based on the same concerns. PCT pg. 412, ln. 4 - pg. 419, ln. 12.

2. Legal Standard

A defendant in a criminal case is guaranteed the effective assistance of counsel under the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. The Sixth Amendment applies to the states through the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment. *See Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 44, 73 (1932). Idaho law also guarantees a criminal defendant's right to effective counsel. Idaho Const. Art. I, § 13; I.C. § 19-852. Further, these rights apply to juveniles. *In re Gault*, 387 U.S. 1, 34 (1967).

In general, a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, whether based upon the state or federal constitutions, is analyzed under the familiar *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), standard. In order to prevail under *Strickland*, a petitioner must prove: 1) that counsel's performance was deficient in that it fell below standards of reasonable professional performance; and 2) that this deficient performance prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. at 689. The prejudice prong is shown if there is a reasonable probability that a different result would have been obtained in the case had the attorney acted properly. *Id*.

Claims of ineffective assistance of counsel due to the failure to move to suppress evidence, require the Court to consider three questions. First, would the motion to suppress have been granted? Second, even so, was the failure to move to suppress outside the boundaries of

reasonable trial strategy? Third, was the defendant prejudiced by trial counsel's deficient performance. *Wurdemann v. State*, No. 43384, --- Idaho ---, --- P.2d --- (February 28, 2017).

The post-conviction court found no deficient performance because the search warrant affidavit established probable cause to seize the computer and the magistrate intended to sign a search warrant permitting seizure of the computer. R 666-668. The court also found that Torey had not established prejudice from the loss of the character witnesses. R 672.

3. A motion to suppress the computer seized pursuant to the September 27 search warrant would have prevailed because the warrant did not authorize the seizure of computers.

The warrant did not authorize the seizure or search of any computers. Petitioner's Exhibit B. Thus, the seizure and later search of the computer exceeded the permissible scope of the search warrant.

While the Affidavit of Probable Cause sought permission to seize computers. The search warrant did not. It only permitted the police to "search for and seize all evidence including but not limited to bodily fluids, stains, hair fibers and other trace evidence as well as fingerprints and indicia of the crime[.]" Petitioner's Exhibit B. That being so, the seizure of the family computer was outside the permissible scope of the warrant.

At the evidentiary hearing Judge Box testified that he did not draft the search warrant. He issued the warrant as it was presented to him and he did not recall any specific discussion concerning computers. PCT pg. 215, ln. -8. When the state asked if he had noticed any difference between the request to search and what he expressly authorized to be searched, Judge Box testified, "I don't recall if I did then." PCT pg. 218, ln. 3. The Judge also testified that when he issues a search warrant he intends to give permission to search for the items listed and

does not intend to give permission to search for items not listed. PCT pg. 218, ln. 15-22.

The Fourth Amendment states that "no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and *particularly describing the* place to be searched, and the person or *things to be seized*." (Emphasis added.) The purposes of the particularity requirement are to prevent general searches and to prevent the seizure of objects upon the mistaken assumption that they fall within the magistrate's authorization. 2 LaFave, Search & Seizure § 4.6(a) (5th ed.) "The requirement that warrants shall particularly describe the things to be seized makes general searches under them impossible and prevents the seizure of one thing under a warrant describing another. As to what is to be taken, nothing is left to the discretion of the officer executing the warrant." *Marron v. United States*, 275 U.S. 192, 195 (1927). As stated by the Third Circuit:

As the text of the Fourth Amendment itself denotes, a particular description is the touchstone of a warrant. U.S. Const. amend. IV. The requirement of a particular description *in writing* accomplishes three things. First, it memorializes precisely what search or seizure the issuing magistrate intended to permit. Second, it confines the discretion of the officers who are executing the warrant. Third, it informs the subject of the search what can be seized. For these reasons, although a warrant should be interpreted practically, it must be sufficiently definite and clear so that the magistrate, police, and search subjects can objectively ascertain its scope.

Doe v. Groody, 361 F.3d 232, 239 (3rd Cir. 2004) (internal citations and quotations omitted; emphasis in original). "The particularity requirement's objective is that those searches deemed necessary based on a probable cause determination by a magistrate should be as limited as possible." *State v. Weimer*, 133 Idaho 442, 448-49, 988 P.2d 216, 222-23 (Ct. App. 1999). Thus, if an item seized is outside those items permitted to be seized by the written text of the search warrant itself, the unwritten intent of the magistrate issuing the warrant has no legal

significance. *See State v. Holman*, 109 Idaho 382, 707 P.2d 493 (Ct. App. 1985) (Seizure of calculator which was not listed as item to be seized on search warrant found to be outside scope of warrant) and *Weimer*, *supra* (where Court looks at words of warrant to determine whether it authorized the seizure of items taken during a search). The warrant here was limited by its written terms and since the seizure of the computer exceeded the written terms of the warrant the seizure (and subsequent search) of the computer was invalid.

The post-conviction court relied upon *State v. Bollingberg*, 674 N.W.2d 281 (N.D. 2004), but that case is distinguishable. The North Dakota Court looked at the totality of the language of the search warrant itself in order to understand the meaning of the command line of the warrant. It concluded that a search of the premises was authorized, even though not expressly listed, because "the second paragraph of the command portion of the warrant authorized seizure of computers and documents and that one would not likely find these things in outbuildings, vehicles, or curtilage. The district court stated an officer could reasonably assume, given the top portion of the search warrant and the second paragraph of the command, that premises was implied." *Id*.

Here, nothing in the text of the search warrant would lead the police officer to conclude that the seizure of computers was implied when the warrant only authorized a search for "bodily fluids, stains, hair fibers and other trace evidence as well as fingerprints and indicia of the crime[.]" While in *Bollingberg* the police would not normally find computers and documents in outbuildings, vehicles, or curtilage, the police here could find everything the warrant authorized seizing without searching or seizing the computer. Further, the computer could not contain the

items the search warrant specifically authorized a search for, *i.e.*, "bodily fluids, stains, hair fibers and other trace evidence as well as fingerprints[.]"

Moreover, in *Bollingberg*, the state presented evidence from the drafter of the search warrant that the word "premises" was inadvertently omitted when he created the warrant. Here, the state never called the author of the search warrant to testify.

Thus, the seizure of the computer exceeded the scope of the search warrant. And as the Court of Appeals has written, "when a search exceeds the scope permitted by a valid (or partially valid) search warrant . . . the property unlawfully seized will be suppressed." *State v. Bussard*, 114 Idaho 781, 787, 760 P.2d 1197, 1203 (Ct. App. 1988). A motion to suppress would have been granted and Torey has established the first of the three *Wurdemann* requirements.

4. Trial counsel did not have a strategic reason to not move to suppress

The second *Wurdemann* requirement was also proved. Defense counsel admitted that the only reason he did not move to suppress the evidence was because he could not see a legal basis to do so. He also testified that had he would have moved to suppress the evidence had he identified a basis to suppress it. PCT pg. 106, ln. 15 - pg. 107, ln. 7. Thus, it was not a strategic decision to fail to move to suppress and the failure to identify the fatal flaw in the warrant was below the standards of reasonable professional performance. *See*, *Wurdemann v. State*, *supra* (deficient performance for failing to move to suppress identification); *Carter v. State*, 108 Idaho 788, 795, 702 P.2d 826, 833 (1985) (Deficient performance found when trial counsel failed to object to the introduction of extremely damaging testimony obtained in violation of *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).). In fact, the failure to suppress was totally inconsistent with the defense team's chosen trial strategy. Had the motion to suppress been made, defense counsel

could have proceeded with the planned trial strategy instead of having to abandon large portions of the defense case to avoid "opening the door" to the state's evidence.

5. Defense counsels' deficient performance was prejudicial.

Counsel's deficient performance prejudiced Torey because the failure to recognize a basis to suppress the computer evidence resulted in counsel failing to present the character evidence that was vital for the theory of the defense – that Torey was unlike Brian and that Brian, not Torey, murdered Cassie.

This defense was like a tipi composed of three posts.

First, Brian admitted on the videotape that he stabbed and killed Cassie. "I just stabbed her in the throat . . . I just killed Cassie." Trial Exhibit 89, pg. 1.

Second, the physical evidence was consistent with the theory of Brian, not Torey, as the killer. The evidence regarding the knives, the DNA evidence, and the blood evidence all was consistent with the theory.

Third, the anticipated character evidence and Torey's testimony would establish that Torey was a respectful, shy, non-violent, unaggressive follower - exactly the sort who could be led into Brian's plan without understanding that they were not pretending, and that Brian, not Torey, planned to and did commit an actual murder.

When defense counsel decided to eliminate the character evidence and Torey's testimony because they mistakenly thought that they could not suppress the computer evidence, one post was removed and the structure collapsed.

At the evidentiary hearing, Torey put on character evidence from ten character witnesses, all of whom were listed as defense witnesses at the trial. PCT pg. 93, ln. 22 - pg. 95, ln. 17.

Barbara Adamcik, Ph.D., a professor at I.S.U., a former high-level administrator there and Torey's grandmother, testified that Torey was respectful, not aggressive, shy, unsophisticated and a follower, not a leader. PCT pg. 231, ln. 20 - pg. 234, ln. 14. Torey's former teacher, Rusty Adamson, who works with at risk students, testified that she did not see in Torey any characteristics typically seen in-at risk children. PCT pg. 240, ln. 2-5. In her opinion, Torey was immature for his age, naive, very trusting, non-aggressive, a follower, and trustworthy. She also noted that Torey had an IEP with the special education department due to processing deficiencies. PCT pg. 237, ln. 20 - pg. 239, ln. 20.

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