Uldaho Law Digital Commons @ Uldaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs, All

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

6-28-2017

Adamcik v. State Respondent's Brief Dckt. 44358

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

The state relies on the Idaho Supreme Court's rendition of facts recited above (see pages 1-9, supra), and the district court's findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding Claim 2, which are incorporated as if fully set forth herein. Those findings and conclusions are part of the attached Addendum B. (Addendum B; specifically PC R., p.644, ¶5 – p.650, ¶21; p.658, ¶13 – p.665, ¶27.) In addition to the district court's "prejudice" analysis regarding Claim 2, the state offers the following argument.

Adamcik first contends he was prejudiced by his trial team's failure to obtain the Sloan knife (St. Ex. 70) and Rambo knife (St. Ex. 74) for expert testing by Mr. Reit because the "lack of witness preparation led to a situation where the jury saw both the long-serving Judge and the elected Prosecuting Attorney castigate [defense counsel] –

27

calling him unprepared, unprofessional, and a liar," thereby undermining counsel's credibility. (Appellant's Brief, pp.16-20.) Regardless of the propriety of the prosecutor's and trial judge's comments to Adamcik's trial team during the failed attempt to present Mr. Reit as an expert witness, the comments bear little, if any, causal relationship to the actual deficient performance of his counsel alleged in the post-conviction petition and found by the district court – the failure to obtain the two knives for testing. The essential elements of a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel are that the attorney's performance was deficient and prejudice *caused by the deficiency*. Strickland, 466 U.S. at 687-688; Zepeda v. State, 152 Idaho 710, 713, 274 P.3d 11, 14 (Ct. App. 2012). The question is not whether the outcome of the trial would have been different had the comments by the prosecutor and trial judge not been made. The relevant question is whether, had Adamcik's trial team obtained the knives for testing, the result of the trial have been different. Here, the comments by the prosecutor and the trial judge in discussing the admissibility of Mr. Reit's expert testimony are far too attenuated from Adamcik's counsels' failure to obtain the knives for testing to give rise to a reasonable likelihood of a different result. See Atkins v. Zenk, 667 F.3d 939, 946 (7th Cir. 2012) (finding the defendant's chain of inferences "little more than an invitation for the Court to make speculation-fueled inferential leaps"); Beyah v. Uribe, 2010 WL 5524912 (C.D.Ca 2010) ("Petitioner's defense was not prejudiced because the link between the testimony of the potential witnesses and a reasonable likelihood of a better outcome at trial for Petitioner is too attenuated."); Soto-Beltram v. United States, 946 F.Supp.2d 312, 318 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) (trial counsel's "negotiation efforts were simply too attenuated from any prejudice that arose during the sentencing phase").

28

It should also be noted that the trial court instructed the jury that it was to "consider only the evidence at trial" consisting "of the testimony of the witnesses, the exhibits offered and received, and any stipulated or admitted facts." (R., vol. V, p.1087 (Jury Instruction No. 2).) The same instruction stated:

Except as explained in this instruction, none of my rulings were intended by me to indicate any opinion concerning the evidence in this case.

The arguments and remarks of the attorneys involved in this case are intended to help you in understanding the evidence and applying the instructions, but they are not themselves evidence. If any argument or remark has no basis in the evidence, then you should disregard it.

(R., pp.1087-1088.) Any risk that the jury may have thought less of the defense team's credibility due to comments made by the prosecutor and trial judge, and allowed that to enter into its verdict, was minimized by the court's instructions about both trial counsels' and the courts own remarks. In short, the jury was instructed to only consider the evidence at trial in reaching its verdict, and it is presumed to have followed that instruction. <u>State v. Kilby</u>, 130 Idaho 747, 751, 947 P.2d 420, 424 (Ct. App. 1997) (the jury is presumed to follow instructions). Based on the above arguments, Adamcik has failed to show that the prosecutor's and/or the trial judge's comments constituted <u>Strickland</u> prejudice as to Claim 2.

Next, Adamcik contends he was prejudiced as a result of his trial team's failure to obtain the knives for testing because he was precluded from presenting Mr. Reit's testimony, which, he argues, "was strong evidence that only one knife was used" to murder Cassie. (Appellant's Brief, pp.21-25.) At trial, Dr. Garrison testified for the state, in effect, that wound #1 was caused by a non-serrated knife, such as the Sloan knife (St. Ex. 70). Dr. Garrison concluded that two knives (the other being a serrated knife

such as the Rambo knife) were each used to inflict at least one "potentially fatal" wound to Cassie. (Tr., vol. II, p.2219, L.17 – p.2227, L.15.) Dr. Garrison based his opinion upon the fact that wound #1: (1) showed no signs of having been inflicted by a serrated knife, (2) had a hilt mark, and (3) was thirteen centimeters (i.e., 5.118 inches) deep, but the Rambo knife's serrations began seven centimeters (i.e., 2.755 inches) from the tip of the blade. (Tr., vol. II, p.2224, L.5 – p.2226, L.9; p.2251, L.17 – p.2252, L.4; see http://www.inches-to-cm.com.) Dr. Leis, testifying for Adamcik, concluded that only one knife was used – the Rambo serrated knife (St. Ex. 74) – "in the attack." (Tr., vol. III, p.2653, Ls.3-6.)

In the post-conviction evidentiary hearing, Mr. Reit testified that, after he conducted tests of the actual Rambo and Sloan knives on pig skin, he concluded "the wounds made by the Rambo [serrated] knife could in part be similar to the wounds made by the tanto [i.e., Sloan] knife. And that the tanto knife wound could be totally accounted for by the Rambo knife, *if* the Rambo knife is not plunged all the way into the skin." (PC Tr., p.283, Ls.9-14 (explanations and emphasis added).) Based on the premise that the Rambo knife had not been "plunged all the way into the skin," Mr. Reit agreed with Dr. Leis' trial testimony that only one knife was used to murder Cassie. There is no dispute that, *if* it is assumed that the Rambo knife was only thrust part of the way into Cassie's chest, the wound might look "in part" similar to a wound inflicted by the Sloan knife. However, the testimony by Dr. Leis totally belies that assumption.

At trial, Dr. Leis testified that wound #1 to Cassie's upper right chest showed no signs of serrations and had a "hilt mark;"¹⁰ therefore, his testimony has always been contrary to any suggestion – including his own – that wound #1 was caused by a serrated knife. Dr. Leis testified:

- Q. Can you describe, Dr. Leis, what Exhibit 22 is?
- A. This depicts wound number "1" which was to Cassie's right upper chest area.
- Q. And would you agree that that wound was to the hilt?
- A. Yes.
- Q. And there is a hilt mark there?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Are there serrations on that on that wound?
- A. Not that I can see definitively in this photograph.

(Tr., vol. III, p.2647, Ls.12-24; see id., p.2610, L.22 - p.2612, L.11 (Dr. Leis' summary of

Dr. Garrison's testimony that his photos show wound #1 has a hilt mark, "the result of a

part of the handle of the knife striking the skin's surface and leaving an outline behind");

p.2651, L.19-25 ("In just looking at wound number "1" or "2" by themselves, there is not

a specific feature that depicts a serrated blade striking the skin").)

Because Dr. Leis testified at trial that wound #1 penetrated Cassie's chest "to the

hilt," the blade used to inflict that wound necessarily went all the way into her chest until

¹⁰ Dr. Garrison testified that a "hilt" mark or "impact injury" is a mark left by either the hilt, hand or finger "as it impacts the skin" during a blow with a knife. (Tr. vol. II, p.2217, L.21 - p.2218, L.10.) While showing the jury showing photos of wound #1 (see St. Ex. 94, slides 15, 16), Dr. Garrison explained that, "although this picture is somewhat out of focus, you can see it's fairly rounded here – and another impact injury. So we know that this knife went in up to where the hand was. It's an impact injury" (Tr., vol. II, p.2219, L.23 – p.2220, L.5.)

it was stopped by the hilt – leaving a mark. To be clear, whatever knife was used to inflict wound #1 was thrust all the way into Cassie's chest. If the serrated Rambo knife had been used, wound #1 would have exhibited irregularities and disruptions from the serrations on the upper part of the knife blade that was closest to the hilt. Because both Dr. Garrison (see Tr., vol. II, p.2219, L.7 – p.2220, L.11) and Dr. Leis agreed that wound #1 did *not* have any serrations, *and* that it penetrated Cassie's chest cavity "to the hilt," the only reasonable conclusion is that wound #1 was inflicted by a non-serrated knife, such as the Sloan knife.¹¹ Moreover, because wound #1 was thirteen centimeters deep, and the Rambo knife's serrations began only seven centimeters from the tip of the blade, it is unlikely that a serrated knife inflicted wound #1, even taking the possibility of "compression" into account.¹² (Tr., vol. II, p.2224, L.5 – p.2226, L.9; p.2251, L.17 – p.2252, L.4.) Having convicted Adamcik of first-degree murder, the jury clearly understood the significance of these facts – a non-serrated knife was used to inflict wound #1.

¹¹ If Dr. Leis' theory was correct, there should be no hilt mark on wound #1 if wound #22 to Cassie's left hand pinkie stopped the serrated Rambo knife from fully penetrating her chest. Conversely, the fact that wound #1 had a hilt mark, and wound #2 did not, is an indication that wound #22 aligned with wound #2 – not wound #1.

¹² Adamcik's trial counsel tried to get Dr. Garrison to agree that, based on the possibility of "compression," the knife used to inflict wound #1 "doesn't have to be thirteen centimeters long. This could be eight, nine centimeters long, as well," Dr. Garrison answered, "No, it's going to depend on the compressibility of the tissues." (Tr., vol. II, p.2252, Ls.9-16.) When testifying about wound #15, an unserrated knife wound, Dr. Garrison explained, "if we have a wound that goes into the thigh fourteen centimeters leaving no markings, even though you would have compression, *it's not going to compress that much*, so that would have to be, in my opinion, a knife other that the serrated knife." (Tr., vol. II, p.2226, Ls.4-9 (emphasis added).) Based on that testimony, the jury could have reasonably concluded that wound #1, only one centimeter less deep than wound #15, would also not compress enough to allow for the possibility that it was inflicted by a serrated knife.

Despite the fact that he testified that wound #1 went into Cassie's chest to the hilt and showed no sign of serrations, Dr. Leis later testified that wound #1 was caused by a serrated knife. He said that he reached that opinion by enlarging and lightening one of the photos Dr. Garrison used to show how wound numbers 22 (left hand pinkie) and 2 (chest) aligned together (see St. Ex. 94, slides 3, 5), but concluded that, because he believed he saw a hilt mark on wound #2, it was really wound #1 (Tr., vol. III, p.2613, L.22 – p.2615, L.10; see Def. Ex. DD, slides 6, 8, 10-12; St. Exs. 23; 94, slides 4, 5 (showing no obvious hilt mark on wound #2)). A mere glimpse at Dr. Garrison's photos of wound #1 (see St. Ex. 94, slides 15, 16) – showing an extremely pronounced hilt mark on the right side – should cast doubt on Dr. Leis' testimony that the same wound can be seen in Dr. Garrison's photos (or Dr. Leis' enhanced photos) showing wound #22¹³ and wound #2 in alignment (see St. Ex. 94, slides 3, 5; Def. Ex. DD, slides 6, 8, 10-12).

Lastly, Dr. Leis asked the jury to believe that Dr. Garrison misidentified wound #1 as wound #2, a mistake that was highly unlikely due to the following factors:

- (1) Dr. Garrison personally conducted an examination on Cassie's body (Tr. vol. II, p.2193, L.16 p.2194, L.20; p.2201, Ls.5-18), and was present when the photo was taken during the re-examination of Cassie's body (Tr. vol. II, p.1731, L.9 p.1732, L.12; St. Ex. 28).
- (2) Dr. Leis did not attend Cassie's autopsy or Dr. Garrison's reexamination of her body; he had only seen photos of those procedures, and there is no indication he ever actually saw or examined Cassie's body. (Tr. vol. III, p.2646, L.23 - p.2647, L.8.)

¹³ Adamcik mistakenly states that Dr. Garrison "testified that wound #22 . . . was caused by a smooth-bladed knife, like the Sloan knife." (Appellant's Brief, p.22.) Dr. Garrison testified that wound #22 to Cassie's left hand pinkie was inflicted by a serrated knife. (Tr., vol. II, p.2211, L.8 – p.2213, L.21 ("this was a serrated or survival-type knife cut to the hand").)

- (3) Each of Cassie's wounds were clearly identified with easily read numbered labeled stickers, placed on her body and photographed by Dr. Skoumal or his staff. (Tr., vol. II, p.2084, L.16 – p.2085, L.7; see St. Exs. 20, 94.)
- (4) Dr. Garrison testified in detail about the points of identification linking the two photos of wound #2 in the side-by-side slide showing Cassie's left hand pinkie (wound #22) laid over wound #2 (closed with tape) on the left, and a photo of wound #2 (not closed with tape) on the right. (See St. Ex. 94, slide 5; Tr. vol. II, p.2213, Ls.3-21.)

Mr. Reit's testimony would not have made any difference at trial in attempting to buttress Dr. Leis' testimony. The "assumption" Mr. Reit employed to theorize that wound #1 was a partial stab wound is based entirely on Dr. Leis' self-contradicting testimony that – despite the fact there was a hilt mark on wound #1 – the knife blade only partially penetrated Cassie's chest. That contradictory testimony, combined with the consistent and logical testimony of Dr. Garrison, the photos of the stab wounds, and the improbability that wound #1 was mis-identified by Dr. Garrison by a stickered label placed by Dr. Skoumal as wound #2 (see St. Ex. 94, slide 5), all reinforce the district court's determination that Adamcik failed to demonstrate prejudice under <u>Strickland</u> in regard to this claim.

F. <u>Adamcik Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Denial Of Claim 5 –</u> <u>Cumulative Prejudice</u>

1. Introduction

The district court rejected Claim 5 of Adamcik's petition, which alleged cumulative prejudice based on Claims 2, 3(b), and 4. (PC R., pp.665-672.) On appeal Adamcik asserts cumulative prejudice based on the district court's findings that his trial counsel were deficient in regard to Claim 2 (failure to obtain the knives for testing), and Claim 4 (failure to excise Adamcik's invocation of rights that appeared on videotaped

police interview). (Appellant's Brief, pp.25-27.) Adamcik further argues that Claim 3(b) (failure to move to suppress the "kiddie porn" found on the computer) should be considered in the cumulative prejudice mix, even though the district court found (in the context of determining cumulative prejudice under Claim 5) that his trial counsel's performance was *not* deficient. (Id.; <u>see</u> PC R., pp.468, 665, 670 (stating it would "nonetheless" consider Claim 3(b) in regard to cumulative prejudice for appeal purposes).)

Regardless of whether cumulative prejudice is based on all three claims, or just the two for which the district court found Adamcik's trial counsel deficient, Adamcik has failed to meet his burden of showing that he was prejudiced to the extent that he was denied a fair trial.

2. <u>Adamcik Has Failed To Show Error In The District Court's Rejection Of</u> <u>His Cumulative Error Claim</u>

Under the doctrine of cumulative error, a series of errors, harmless in themselves, may in the aggregate show the absence of a fair trial. <u>State v. Martinez</u>, 125 Idaho 445, 453, 872 P.2d 708, 716 (1994). A necessary predicate to application of the doctrine is a finding of more than one error. <u>State v. Hawkins</u>, 131 Idaho 396, 958 P.2d 22 (Ct. App. 1998).

The ultimate question of <u>Strickland</u> prejudice is whether the defendant was denied "a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable." <u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 687. Adamcik has failed to show that the errors he cites, i.e., instances of deficient performance, amount to a denial of due process that would require reversal. <u>State v. Gray</u>, 129 Idaho 784, 804, 932 P.2d 907, 927 (Ct. App. 1997); <u>State v. Barcella</u>, 135 Idaho 191, 204, 16

35

P.3d 288, 301 (Ct. App. 2000) (accumulation of errors deemed harmless). In response to this issue, the state incorporates, as if fully set forth herein, those portions of the district court's orders relevant to the denial of this claim. (Addendum A; specifically PC R., pp.394-403; Addendum B; specifically PC R., p.650, \P 22 – p.654, \P 38; p.656, \P 4; p.665, \P 28 – p.672, \P 50.)

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